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Jo sE SANTEIRO
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/

INDICTM ENT

Thc Grand Jury charges that:

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

At a1l tim es relevant to this lndictment:

Druz and Alcohol Rehabilitation

Substance abuse treatm ent regulations described a continuum of care for patient
s

experiencing substance abuse including, from m ost intensive to least intensive, detox, residential
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treatment, partial hospitalization (itPHP-') intensive outpatient (;kIOP'') and outpatient (ètOP'').1

The varying levels of treatment provided were based on the severity of a patient's addiction and

the patient's cul-rent sym ptom s. Persons undergoing treatment on an outpatient basis
, whether in

PHP, IOP, or OP, often elected to live in a k-recovery residence
r'' also known as a lûsober homer

''

tûhalfway hotlse,'' or in some cases -tcom munity housingp'' with other persons who were also in

treatment and eommitted to a drug- and alcohol-free litkstyle. W hile these tenns for the residences

are comm only interchanged, they are referred to herein as tksober hom es.''

2. Detox facilities assisted patients in dealing with the effects of withdrawal from the

complete cessation of using drugs and/or alcohol. After successfully eompleting detox or other

inpatient services, patients received treatlnent for their underlying addiction in the fon'n of

outpatient care, through either PHPS, lOPs, and/or OPs. PHP, IOP, and OP patients attended

facilities on an ongoing basis where treatm ent was rendered
, generally in the form of group and

individual therapy sessions. The distinction among the three different treatment plans related to
,

am ong other things, the am ount of therapy time on a daily or weekly basis.

Faeilities that provided detox, residential treatment, PHP, lOP and OP were

ktclinical treatment facilities,'- as detined in Title 1 8
, United States Code, Section 220(e)(2).

M edical and osteopathie doctors played an essential role in substance abuse

treatment. W ithout a doctor, patients at the substance abuse treatment centers would not have

received prescriptions for drugs, received treatment- or had urine, blood, or other bodily tluid

testing. Bodily tluid tests, which were preseribed by the doetors, were billed to health plans by the

l The Florida Department of Children and Families (-:DCF>-), which regulated and licensed treatment
facilities in Florida- referred to PHP as Day or Night Treatluent with Community Housing. Unlike IOP or
OP patients who elected to live in a sober home and were reqtlired to pay tlleir own rent or room and boarde
in a Day or Night Treatment with Commtlnity Housilzg program, room. board, and transportation were
provided by the program, but only for PHP patients.
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substance abuse treatment centers and/or laboratories
, as were patient evaluations perfonued by a

physician.

DCF licensed and oversaw addiction treatment t-acilities that provided detox
,

residential treatm ent, PHP, IOP, and OP program s in Florida. Florida state regulations governed

substance abuse treatm ent services, including standards for detox, residential treatment, PHP, lOP

and OP. See, e.g.. Fl. Admin. Code jj 659-30.006, 659-30.007, 659-30.0081, 6517-30.0091 and

6513-30.010. One of the requireluents that D CF placed on certain t-acilities was that they have a

m edical director.

6. ln Florida, substance abuse treatment services were governed by the ê-Hal S
.

Marchman Alcohol and Other Drug Services Act'' (-kthe Marchman Act''), Fl. Stat. j 397.301 .

Under the M archm an Act, private substance abuse service providers- policies regarding paym ent

tbr services had to com ply with federal and state law . Fl. Stat. j 397.43 1 .
Etclinical treatment-' under the M archman Act was required to be ;-a

prot-essionally directed, deliberate, and planned regim en of services and interventions that are

designed to reduce or elim inate the m isuse of drugs and alcohol and prom ote a healthy
, drug-free

lifestyle.'' Fl. Stat. j 397.31 l (26)(a).

The U.S. Department of Health and Hum an Services, Substance Abuse and M ental

Hea1th Services Adluinistration, Center for Substance Abuse Treatment (EtSAMHSA'D), also

promulgated guidelines for varying levels of treatment based on the severity of the addiction
,

including detox and IOP.

The Am eriean Soeiety of Addidion

medical society l'epresenting over 6,000 physieians, clinicians, and associated prot-essionals in the

field of addidion medieine. ASAM  published the ASAM  Criteria. which was a colleetion of
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objective guidelines that gave clinicians a way tostandardize treatment planning and where

patients were placed in treatluent, as well as how to provide continuing
, integrated care and

ongoing service planning, including for detox
, PHP, IOP, and OP treatm ent services.

The Controlled Substances Act (ttCSA'') govelmed the manufaeture, distribution,

and dispensing ot-controlled substances in the United States. W ith limited exceptions for medical

professionals, the CSA made it unlawful for any person to knowingly or intentionally manufacture
,

distribute, or dispense a eontrolled substance or conspil'e to do so
.

The CSA and its im plem enting regulations set fol'th which drugs and other

substanees were defined by law as ''controlled substances
r'' and assigned those controlled

substances to one of five schedules (Schedule 1, Il, 111, lV, or V) depending on their potential for

abuse, likelihood of physical or psychological dependeney
, accepted m edieal use, and accepted

safety for use under m edieal supervision.

practitioners, who were

authorized to prescribe controlled substances by the jurisdiction in which they were licensed to

practiee medieine, w ere authorized under the CSA to prescl-ibe, or otherwise distl-ibute, controlled

M edical practitioners, such as physicians and nurse

substances, if they were registered with the Attorney General of the United States
. 2 l U.S.C. j

822(b)', 21 C.F .R. j 1306.03. Upon application by the practitioner, the Drug Ent-orcement

Administration (-;DEA'') assigned a unique l'egistration number, also ltnown as a -ûDEA numbers''

to each qualit-ying medical practitioner, including physicians and nurse practitioners.

One form of treatment for substance abuse involved the use of a prescription

eontrolled substance, buprenorphine, which was an opioid. Buprenom hine was som etimes used

in substance abuse treatm ent to wean opioid-addicted patients off of other opioids
, ineluding

heroin and narcotic painkillers. Because drugs containing buprenom hine were Schedule lll
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controlled substances, meaning that there was a strong potential for abuse
, resulting in fatal and

non-fatal overdoses, prescribing physicians were also requiyed to have two DEA registrations
. The

tirst registration was the standard C*DEA number'' referenced above that was required to prescribe

any controlled substance. The second registration was a 'tDEA X-numbers'' which was granted to

a limited number of physicians with valid C-DEA numbersp'' who had completed a training program

on substanee abuse treatment and fultilled other regulatory requirements.

The Drug Addiction Treatment Act ('tDATAD') of 2000 amended the CSA to permit

physicians to treat opioid addiction using Schedules lIl-V , U.S. Food and Drug Administration

(kzlfDzv'l-approved nareotie drug produets without having to obtain a separate DEA registration as

a narcotie treatment program. This was known as a k'DATA-waiver.'' Those registered with the

DEA as DA-l-A-waived physicians could treat 30 or 100 patients at any one tim e. ln 2016, Congress

passed the Comprehensive Addiction and Recovery Act (ttCAItA''), which amended the CSA to

pennit nurse practitioners and physician assistants registered with the DEA to also treat opioid

addiction based on state authority. ln 2016, the Department of Health and Hum an Services

published a Federal Register Notice which increased the patient lim itation to 275 for DATA-

waived physicians.

Bodily Fluid Testing in Substance Abuse Treatm ent

One m onitoring strategy used by substance abuse treatment centers and medical

professionals to deted reeent drug or alcohol use by a patient was urine drug testing tand blood

testing). There were two primary categories of urine drug testing'. immunoassay testing (e.g., a

drug screen or point of eare (êùPOC'') testing) and specific drug identification testing (e.g.p

detinitive, or contsnnatory, testing).
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16. POC urine testing involved collecting urine in a specitic cup designed for testing
.

The specimen was analyzed using a color band or numbered dipstick
, allowing for visual positive

or negative results. POC urine testing usually tested for the presence of 9 to l 3 specific types of

drugs. POC tests typically cost between $5 and $10 and could be read easily by a layperson
. This

testing was convenient, and less costly, and the restllts could be read quickly. POC testing was the

most common fbn'fl of urine testing performed at treatment faeilities.

Det-initive (or contsrmatory) urine drug tests used gas liquid chromatography-mass

spectrometry ('CLCMS'') and/or gas chromatography, or high-performance liquid chromatography,

to analyze the urine specimen. These teclmiques were highly sensitive
, and accurately and

definitively identified specif'ic substances and the quantitative concentrations of the drugs or their

m etabolites. This testing was m ore precise, more sensitive, and detected m ore substances than

other types of urine testing.Results of detinitive testing took longer
, and the tests were

signiticantly more expensive than POC testing; single urine specimens that underwent drug screen

analyzers and LCM S testing could be billed to insurance companies for thousands of dollars
.

Paym ent for Substance Abuse Treatm ent

l 8. lnsuranee coverage for substance abuse treatm ent and urine and blood testing was

available through a num ber of avenues, including, but not lim ited to, the following private

insuranee eom panies: Aetna Health M anagement LLC and Aetna Life lnsurance for M em bers

(û-AetnaD') Blue Cross/Blue Shield (CiBCBS'') Cigna Healthcare (ûkcigna'') Magellan Hea1th Inc.,D

' 

D D

M edical M utual, United Behavioral Health and United Health Group, Inc. (ttunited''), and Optum

Health (ûioptum'') (eollectively referred to hereinafter as the ûûlnsurance Plans''). The lnsuranee

Plans offered health care coverage directly to consum ers and through em ployers
, including ERISA

and IZOIA-ERISA plans. They also managed health care plans offered to federal employees. The
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lnsurance Plans covered medical and clinical treatment costs of rehabilitation in accordance with

the terms of their policies and state and federal law e including requirem ents that addiction

treatment services and testing be m edically necessary.

Under the terms of insurance policies and consistent with state and tkderal law
, the

Insurance Plans were only responsible for claims for services that: (a) were medically necessary

and actually rendered, (b) were provided by a properly licensed service provider, and (c) complied

with the terms of the health eare plans. ineluding the obligation to pay co-insurance and

deductibles.

20. The Insurance Plans were :-health care benetit progl-ams,
'' as defined in Title l 8,

United States Code, Section 24(b), and Title 1 8, United States Code, Section 220(e)(3).

Typically, health care providers, including substance abuse treatm ent t-acilities
,

laboratories, and medical professionalss subm itted claim s for substance abuse treatm ent and bodily

fluid testing to the lnsurance Plans electronically, via interstate wires.

The Defendants and Relevant Entities

The Treatm ent Program s

Second Chance Detox, LLC,d/b/a Compass Detox (ûtcompass Detox'D), was a

Florida company, located at l 15l Poinciana Drive, Pembroke Pines, Florida 33025. Com pass

Detox was a substance abuse treatm ent center licensed with DCF that purportedly provided

individuals, including beneticiaries of the lnsurance Plans
, with detox and residential treatment

services.

WAR Network, LLC ($tWAR'') was a Florida company, loeated at 137 SE

Avenue, Hallandale, Florida 33009. W AR was a substance abuse treatm ent program licensed with

DCF that purpol-tedly provided individuals, including beneficiaries of the lnsurance Plans, with
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PHP, IOP, and OP services. W AR provided community housing for PHP patients at an apartment-

type building located at 1 16 SE 5th Avenue, Hallandale Beach, Florida 33009, known as ttoasis.''

The Laboratories

Laboratory Pros, LLC ('ûl-aboratory Pros'') was a Florida company, located at 1 701

Green Road, Suite A-1, Deerfield Beach, Florida 33064.

Lab 1 was a Florida company located in Deerfeld Beach
, Florida.

Lab 2 was a Florida eompany located in Sunrise, Florida.

Lab 3 was a Florida com pany loeated in M iam i, Florida.

28. Lab 4 was a Florida com pany located in M iami, Florida.

29. Lab 5 was a Florida eompany loeated in M iam i
, Florida.

30. Lab 6 (together with Laboratory Pros and Lab 5, the tèclinical

Laboratories'') was a Florida company located in North Miami Beach, Florida.

Each ofthe Clinical Laboratories was a k-laboratory
,'' as detined in Title 1 8, United

States Code, Section 220(e)(4), and Title 42. United States Code, Section 263a.

Additional Entities

W aterstone Capital Management, LLC (i'W aterstone Capital Management'') was a

Florida company, located at 1 l24 Kane Concourse
, Bay Harbor Islands, Florida 33154.

Asakim l 8, LLC (tûAsakim l 8-:) was a Florida company, located at 250 95th street

546996, Surfside, Florida 33154.

Yeladim 18, LLC (ètYeladim l 8'') was a Florida company, located at 250 95th Street

546996, Surfside, Florida 33154.

Right Direction Recovery, LLC (ttRight Direction Recovery3-) was a Florida

company, located at 1 124 Kane Concourse. Bay Harbor lslands, Florida 33l 54.
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36. W aterstone Healthcare M anagement
, (ûûWaterstone Healthcare

Management'') was a Florida company. located at 1 124 Kane Concourse, Bay Harbor lslands,

Florida 33 l 54. Asakim 1 8 and W aterstone Capital M anagement were the m anagers of W aterstone

Healthcare M anagement. W aterstone Healthcare M anagem ent
, in turn, was the manager of Right

Direction Recovery, Compass Detox, and W AR.

Ness Group Foundation, Inc. ('W ess Group Foundation'') was a Florida non-profit

corporation, located at 1 124 Kane Concourse- Bay Harbor Islands. Florida 33154.

38. Jade Holdings, LLC (tilade Holdingf') was a Florida company, located at 1 124

Kane Concourse, Bay Harbor lslands, Florida 33 154. Jade Holdings Delaware, LLC was a foreign

lim ited liability company registered in Florida under the eross-referelwe nam e Jade Holdings
,

Closings.com, lnc. (ttclosings.com'') was a Florida company, located at 1 124 Kane

Concourse, Bay Harbor lslands, Florida 33 l 54.

Josh Developluent, LLC was a Florida company
, located at 1 124 Kane Concourse,

Bay Harbor Islands, Florida 331 54.

Ella Development, LLC was a Florida com pany
, located at l l24 Kane Concourse,

Bay Harbor lslands, Florida 33154.

Blaze & Baci LLC was a Florida company, located at l 79 Bal Cross Drive, Bal

Harbour, Florida 33154.

lnner Strength Chiropractic & Rehab LLC (ûtlnner Strength Chiropractic-') was a

Florida company, loeated at l l 08 Kane Concourse
, Suite 300 B. Bay Harbor Island, Florida 33l 54.

Recovery Empire, LLC (Cwltecovery Empire'') was a Florida eompany, located at

9149 Garland Avenue, Surfside, Florida 331 54.
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45. M ended Bridge Investluents, LLC (ttMended Bridge'') was a Florida company,

located at 10275 Collins Avenue //430
, Ba1 Harbour, Florida 33 l 54.

The Defendants and Related lndividuals

JONATH AN M ARK OVICH , a resident of M iam i-Dade County, was a CEO of

Compass Detox, a co-owner of Compass Detox and W AR
, the sole m anager of Asakim 18 and

Yeladim 18, a co-m anager ofW aterstone Healthcare M anagem ent
, Right Direction Recovery, and

Jade Holdings, and a co-director of the Ness Group Foundation
.

47. RICHARD W ASERSTEIN , a resident of M iam i-Dade County, was a co-owner

ofcompass Detox and W AR, the sole m anager ofW aterstone Capital M anagem ent
, Closings.com ,

Josh Development, LLC, and Ella Development
, LLC, a eo-m anager of W aterstone Healtheare

M anagement and Right Direction Recovery, and a co-director of the Ness Group Foundation.

48. DANIEL M ARKOVICH , a resident of M iam i-Dade County, was also a CEO, as

well as the Compliance

Foundation.

Offieer, of Compass Detox, and a co-dil'ector of the Ness Group

49. CHRISTOPHER GARNTO , a resident of M iam i-Dade County, was the Director

of Operations of Compass Detox, and the m anager of Recovery Em pire, M ended Bridge, and

Laboratory Pros.

DREW  LIEBERM AN, a resident of M iam i-Dade County, was the Chief M edical

Officer of Compass Detox, and a co-manager of Blaze & Baci LLC.

JOSE SANTEIRO, a resident of M iam i-Dade County
, was the M edical Director

tbr Com pass Detox and W AR .

M ARIO KUSTUR A, a resident of M iam i-Dade County, was an employee of

Com pass Detox.
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FRANK BOSCH, JR., a resident of M iami-Dade County
, was an employee and

contractor ofcompass Detox.

Dr. Jeffrey Draesel, Jr., a resident of M iami-Dade County
, was a m anager of lnner

Strength Chiropractic who provided chiropractic services to Compass Detox and W AR patients
.

Elan Bakhshi, a resident of N assau County, New York, was an em ployee and

patient of Compass Detox and W AR .

The Sm all Business Administration

56. The United States SmallBusiness Administration (t$SBA'') was an executive-

branch agency of the United States government that provided suppol't to entrepreneurs and small

businesses. The mission of the SBA was to maintain and strengthen the nation's economy by

enabling the establishm ent and viability of sm all businesses and by assisting in the economic

recovery of comm unities after disasters.

As part of this effort, the SBA facilitated loans through banks
, credit unions, and

other lenders. The federal govelmment backed these loans.

The Paycheck Protection Program

58. The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (t-CARESD') Act was a tkderal

law enacted in or around M arch 2020 and designed to provide em ergency financial assistance to

the millions of Am ericans who were suftkring the economic effects caused by the COVID -19

pandemic. One sotlrce of relief provided by the CARES Act was the authorization of up to $349

billion in forgivable loans to slnall businesses forjob retention and certain other expenses- through

a program retkrred to as the Paycheck Protection Program (tûPPP''). ln or around April 2020.

Congress authorized over $300 billion in additional PPP funding.
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59. ln order to obtain a PPP loan
, a qualitking business had to submit a PPP loan

application, which was signed by an authorized representative of the business
. The PPP loan

application required the business (through its authorized representative) to acknowledge the

program rules and make certain aftirmative certitications in order to be eligible to obtain the PPP

loan. One such affinnative cel-titication was that ûtgtjhe Applicant is not engaged in an activity that

is illegal under federal, state or local law'.-' ln the PPP loan application, the small business (through

its authorized representative) also had to state, among other things, its: (a) average monthly payroll

expenses', and (b) number of employees. These figures were used to calculate the amount ofmoney

the sm all business was eligible to receive under the PPP
. In addition, businesses applying for a

PPP loan had to provide docum entation showing their payroll expenses
.

60. A PPP loan application was processed by a participating financial institution

(ûûle1Ader''). lf a PPP loan application was approved, the pal-ticipating lender would fund the loan

using its own monies, which were guaranteed by the SBA
. Data from the application, including

int-ormation about the borrower, the total amount of the loan
, and the listed num ber of em ployees,

was transmitted by the lender to the SBA in the course of processing the loan
.

PPP loan proceeds were reqtlired to be used by the business on certain permissible

expenses, including payroll costs, m ortgage interest, rent, and utilities. Under the applicable PPP

rules and guidance, the interest and principal on the PPP loan was eligible for forgiveness if the

business was eligible for the PPP loan it received
, spent the loan proceeds on these penuissible

expense item s within a designated period oftim e, and used a certain portion of the loan proceeds

for payroll expenses.
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Relevant PPP Lender

62. Lender 1 was a tsnancial institution within the meaning of Title 1 8
, United States

Code, Sedion 20. the deposits of which were insured by the Federal Deposit lnsurance Corporation

(;-FDlC''). Lender 1 was headquartered in Florida.

COUNT 1
Conspiracy to Com mit Health Care Fraud and W ire Fraud

(18 U.S.C. j 1349)

Paragraphs 1 through 31 s 33-34, 36, 43, 46, 48-51 and 54 ofthe General Allegations

section of this lndictment are realleged and incom orated by reference as if fully set fol'th herein
.

2. From in or around April 201 7, and continuing through in or around October 2020
,

in Broward and M iam i-Dade Counties, in the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the

defendants,

JONATHAN M ARK OVICH ,
DANIEL M ARK OVICH ,

CHRISTO PHER GARNTO,
JO SE SANTEIRO, and
DREW  LIEBERM AN,

did willfully, that is, with the intent to ful-ther the objects of the conspiracy, and knowingly

combine, conspire, eonfederate, and agree with eaeh other
, Dr. Jeffrey Draesel, Jr., Elan Bakhshi,

and others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to commit oftknses against the United States,

that is:

to knowingly and willfully execute a schem e and artitice to defraud a health

eare benetit program affecting com merce, as det-ined in Title 18- United States Code, Section

24(b), that is, the lnsuranee Plans,and to obtain, by means of materially false and fraudulent

pretenses, representations and promises, m oney and propel'ty owned by
, and under the custody and

control of, said health care benetit program s, in connection with the delivery of and payment for
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health care benet-its, items, and services, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1347.,

and

to knowingly and with the intend to defraud
, devise and intend to devise a

scheme and artifice to defraud and for obtaining money and propel'ty by means ofmaterially false

and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, knowing the pretenses, repl-esentations,

and promises were false and fraudulent when made
, and for the pul-pose of executing the scheme

and artitsce, did knowingly transmit and cause to be transmitted by means ofwire communication

in interstate comm erce, cel-tain writings
, signs, signals, pictures and sounds, in violation of Title

l 8, United States Code, Section 1343.

PURPO SE OF TH E CO NSPIRACY

lt was a purpose of the conspiracy for the defendants and their co-conspirators to

(a) submitting and causing the submission

offalse and t-raudulent claims to health care benetit programs via interstate wire communications'
,

(b) concealing the submission of false and fraudulent claims to health eare benefit programs'
, (c)

concealing the receipt ofthe fraud proceeds; and (d) diverting the fraud proceeds for their personal

unlawfully enrich themselves by, among other things'.

* 

.suse and benetit, and the use and benetit ofothers
, and to turther the fraud.

M ANNER AND M EANS OF TH E CONSPIR ACY

m anner and means by which the det-endants and their co-conspirators sought to

accomplish the objects and pul-pose ofthe conspiracy included, among others
, the following:

JONATHAN M ARK OVICH, DANIEL M ARKOVICH, and their

conspirators established, operated, and controlled Compass Detox and W AR , which were

pum ol-tedly in the business of providing effective clinical treatment services for persons suffering

from alcohol and drug addiction.
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To obtain and retain patients for Compass Detox and W AR whose insurance
,

including the Insurance Plans,

M ARK OVICH, DANIEL

could be billed tbr substance abuse services, JONATH AN

M ARK OVICH, CHRISTO PHER GARNTO , and their co-

conspirators offered and paid prospective patients kickbacks and bribes in the folnn of: money
, gift

cards, controlled substances (including illegal drugs), other prescription medications, compound

m edications, fiee interstate tlights, bus and train tickets, allowing one patient to 'ûpiggyback'' on

another patient's insurance, and offering other Cûscholarships'' in exchange for a patient referring

other individuals with insurance (including beneticiaries of the Insurance Plans) for treatment.

6. CHRISTOPHER G ARNTO and his co-conspirators ful-ther paid patient recruiters

kickbacks and bribes to refer patients to Colnpass Detox and W AR
, and in return for individual

patients to use the services of Compass Detox and W AR.

M ARK OVICH , CH RISTOPH ER

GARNTO , JO SE SANTEIRO, DREW  LIEBERM AN, and their co.conspirators billed and

caused to be billed to the lnsurance Plans detox and residential treatment services for Compass

JONATHAN M ARK OVICH , DANIEL

Detox patients that were not in fad provided, were not provided as billed, were so substandard that

they failed to serve a treatm ent purpose, and/or were m edically ulm ecessary.

JONATH AN M ARKOVICH, CHRISTOPH ER G ARNTO , JOSE

SANTEIRO , and their co-conspirators billed and caused to be billed to the Insurance Plans PHP
,

IOP, and OP services for W AR patients. ln many instances, patients did not attend the purported

PHP, IOP, and OP sessions at W AR, which were also not provided as billed
, were so substandard

that they failed to serve a treatm ent pulmose
, and/or were medically unnecessary.

JO SE SANTEIRO , DREW  LIEBERM AN , and their co-conspirators prescribed,

caused to be presclibed, adlninistered, and caused to be administered to Com pass Detox and W AR
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patients medications, including controlled substances
, prescription medications, and over-the-

counter medications, in quantities and combinations that at times grossly diverged from legitimate

medical practice, and which were intended to offer patients a substitute for a narcotic or alcohol-

induced high, primarily in order to keep patients docile and incentivize patients to attend and

remain at Compass Detox and W AR.

Another substance created at Compass Detox
, known as a -tcomfort drink,

-' w as

provided to patients routinely, including m ultiple tim es a day, pursuant to prescriptions repol-tedly

signed by DREW  LIEBERM AN and JOSE SANTEIRO
. The c-comfort drinkc'- also referred to

as a -tcomfort shot'' and/or ktcom fol-t meds
-

-- 

was purportedly a compound medication created by

DREW  LIEBERM AN , as Chief M edical Oft-icer of Com pass Detox, and others. The t'comfort

drink'' was primarily used to help patients feel high
, and to keep patients docile and compliant so

that they would attend and rem ain at Com pass Detox
.

JOSE SANTEIRO and DREW  LIEBERM AN overutilized the m ost abusable

version of buprenorphine, which was an opioid sometim es used in addiction treatment
, by

prescribing to Compass Detox and W AR patients the version of buprenorphine with a brand name

of Subutex, which does not contain naloxone
, a m edication that helps deter abuse.

l 2. JOSE SANTEIRO and DREW  LIEBERM AN issued overlapping prescriptions

buprenorphine to Compass Detox and W AR patients
, at tim es even when SANTEIRO ,

LIEBERM AN, or another doctor had already issued a prescl-iption for the same patient that did

not yet need to be refilled.

JONATHAN M ARK OVICH , DANIEL M ARK OVICH
, CH RISTOPHER

GARNTO , DREW  LIEBERM AN , JOSE SANTEIRO , and their co-conspirators created or

caused to be created therapy notes tbr Compass Detox and W AR falsely retlecting that patients
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attended therapy when they did not, and/or falsely retlecting that therapy was actually provided

when it was not.

JONATHAN M ARKOVICH and other co-conspirators hired JOSE SANTEIRO

to serve as the M edical Director of Compass Detox and W AR
, and in return JOSE SANTEIRO

and his co-conspirators ordered urine drug and bodily tluid testing for Com pass Detox and W AR'S

patients, regardless of whether such testing was medically necessary
, actually conducted, or used

in treatment.

CHRISTO PHER GARNTO , through Laboratory Pros, further paid JONATHAN

M ARKOVICH , through Yeladim 18
, kickbacks and bribes to refer urine samples for Compass

Detox and W AR patients to Laboratory Pros, the Clinical Laboratory m anaged by GARNTO .

JONATHAN M ARKOVICH , DANIEL M ARKOVICH
, CH RISTO PHER

GARNTO , and their co-conspirators purchased for and provided to
, and caused the purchase for

and provision to, patients controlled substances and illegal drugs
. so that these individuals would

appear eligible for detox services when they presented at Compass Detox
, when in fact such detox

services were not m edically necessary. These patients were enrolled in and rem ained at Compass

Detox and W AR receiving substance abuse services based on this false adm ission
, i.e., based on

the relapse caused by the conspirators' provision of drugs to the patients
.

JONATHAN M ARKOVICH, DANIEL M ARKO VICH , CHRISTO PHER

GARNTO, JO SE SANTEIRO , DREW  LIEBERM AN , and their co-conspirators recycled and

caused to be recycled patients through Compass Detox and W AR
, as well as other treatm ent

centers aftiliated with co-conspirators, multiple times, including from a lower level of treatm ent

at 'W'AR to a higher level of treatm ent at Compass Detox for the prim ary purpose of being able to

17
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bill the Insurance Plans for such additional treatment purportedly provided to these patients,

regardless ofwhether this treatment was luedically necessary or actually provided
.

JOSE SANTEIRO, DREW  LIEBERM AN, and their co-conspirators provided

little to no medical monitoring ot-patient care at Compass Detox and W AR
, despite being the only

licensed physicians associated with Compass Detox and W AR
. A s a result, among other problems

,

patients luanifested physical symptoms of sedation and medication toxicity which went ignored

by SANTEIRO, LIEBERM AN , and their co-conspirators, and instead were often classitied as

withdrawal symptoms thereby purportedly jtlstifying additional medications and substance abuse

treatment, regardless of whether such treatment was medically necessary or actually provided
.

JONATH AN M ARKO VICH, DANIEL M ARKOVICH
, CHRISTOPHER

GARNTO, JO SE SANTEIRO, DREW  LIEBERM AN
, and their co-conspirators referred and

caused to be referred Compass Detox and W AR patients for chiropractic services fi'om Dr
. Jeffrey

Draesel, Jr., and lnner Strength Chiropractic
, which were not provided, not provided as billed,

and/or were m edically unnecessary.

20. JONATH AN M ARK OVICH , DANIEL M A RKO VICH , CHRISTOPHER

GARNTO, JOSE SANTEIRO , DREW  LIEBERM AN
, and their co-conspirators subm itted and

caused others to subm it, via interstate wire comm ulzications
, approximately $80,768,109 in claims

to the Insurance Plans which falsely and fl-audulently l'epresented that variotls health care benefits
,

primarily substance abuse detoxitication and residential treatluent services
- were medically

necessary, prescribed by a doctor, actually provided, and provided as billed by Compass Detox to

beneficiaries of the lnsurance Plans.

As a result of such false and fraudulent claim s
, the lnsurance Plans m ade paym ents

to the corporate bank accounts of Compass Detox
, in the approximate amount of $24,687, l 80.

18
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22. JONATHAN M ARKOVICH , DAN IEL M ARKOVICH, CH RISTOPHER

GARNTO, JO SE SANTEIRO, DREW  LIEBERM AN, and their co-conspirators submitted and

caused others to submit, via interstate wire communications
, approximately $1 1, 168,209 in claims

to the Insurance Plans which falsely and t-raudulently represented that various health care benetits
,

primarily substance abuse PHP- IOP, and OP services. were m edically necessary, prescribed by a

doctor, actually provided, and provided as billed by W AR to beneticiaries ofthe lnsurance Plans
.

As a result ofsuch false and fraudulent claims, the Insurance Plans m ade paym ents

to the corporate bank accounts of W AR in the approximate amount of $2,291,426.

24. JONATH AN M ARK OVICH , DANIEL M ARK OVICH
, CH RISTOPH ER

GARNTO, JO SE SANTEIRO , DREW  LIEBERM AN, and their co-conspirators submitted and

caused others to submit, via interstate wire comm unications
, approximately $19,356,358 in claims

to the lnsurance Plans which falsely and t-raudulently represented that various health care benetsts
,

primarily laboratory testing services such as det-initive urine drug tests
, were m edically necessary,

prescribed by a doctor, and actually provided by the Clinical Laboratories to beneficiaries of the

Insuralw e Plans.

As a result ofsuch false and fraudulent claim s, the lnsurance Plans made payments

to the corporate bank accounts of the Clinical Laboratories in the

$1,322,367.

approxim ately am ount of

JONATHAN M ARKO VICH, DANIEL M A RK OVICH , CHRISTOPHER

GARNTO, JOSE SANTEIRO, DREW  LIEBERM AN
, and their co-conspirators subm itted and

caused others to subm it, via interstate wire com munications, approximately $588,230 in claims to

the lnsurance Plans which falsely and fraudulently repl-esented that various health care benet-its
,

primarily chiropractic services, were medically necessary, prescribed by a doctor, and actually
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provided by

lnsurance Plans.

Dr. Jeffrey Draesel, Jr., and Inner Strength Chiropractic to benefsciaries of the

As a result of such false and fraudulent claim s
, the lnstlrance Plans made paym ents

the corporate bank account of Inner Strength Chiropractic in the approxiluate am ount of

$1 55.003.

28. JONATHAN M ARKOVICH , DANIEL M ARKOVICH , DREW

LIEBERM AN, CH RISTOPHER G ARNTO, and their co-conspirators established and operated

shell companies to distribute and conceal proceeds ofthe tiuud
.

29. JONATHAN M ARKO VICH, DANIEL M ARKO VICH
, CHRISTOPHER

GARNTO, JOSE SANTEIRO , DREW  LIEBERM AN, and their co-conspirators used the

proceeds of the fraud for their personal use and benefit
, the use and benefit of others, and to further

the fiuud scheme.

A1l in violation ofTitle 18, United States Code. Section 1349.

CO UNTS 2-9
H eaIth Care Fraud

(18 U.S.C. j 1347)

Paragraphs l through 31, 33-34, 36, 43, 46, 48-51 and 54 ofthe General Allegations

section of this Indictm ent are re-alleged and incol-porated by retkrence as though fully set forth

herein.

From in or around April 2017, and continuing through in or around October 2020,

in Broward and M iami-Dade Counties
, in the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the

defendants,

JONATHAN M ARKO VICH,
DANIEL M ARK OVICH ,

CH RISTOPH ER GARNTO ,
JOSE SANTEIRO, and
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DREW  LIEBERM AN,

as described below, in connection with the delivery ofand paym ent for health care benetits. items,

and services, did knowingly and willfully execute, and attempt to execute
, a schem e and artifice

to defraud a health care benefit program affecting commerce, as det-ined in Title l 8, United States

Code, Section 24(b), that is, the lnsurance Plans, and to obtain, by means of materially false and

t-raudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, m oney and property owned by, and under the

eustody and control of, said 1Aealth care benet'it progl'ams.

PURPO SE O F THE SCHEM E AND ARTIFICE

lt was a purpose ofthe scheme and artitiee for the det-endants and their aeeompliees

to unlawt-ully enrich themselves by, among other things: (a) submitting and eausing the

subm ission of false and fraudulent claim s to health care benefit programs via interstate wire

communications; (b) concealing the submission of false and fraudulent claims to health care

benetit progyams', (c) coneealing the reeeipt of the fraud proceeds; and (d) divel-ting the fraud

proceeds for their personal use and benefit, and the use and benetit of others, and to further the

fraud.

THE SCHEM E AND ARTIFICE

The allegations eontained in the M anner and M eans of the Conspiraey seetion of

Count l are re-alleged and incorporated by retkrence as though fully set forth herein as a

description of the schem e and artifice.

ACTS IN EXECUTION O R ATTEM PTED EXECUTION OF THE
SCHEM E AND ARTIFICE

On or about the dates as to each count set forth below , in Broward and M iami-Dade

Counties, in the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants, JONATHAN

M ARKOVICH , DANIEL M ARKOVICH , CH RISTOPHER GARNTO, JO SE SANTEIRO
,
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and DREW LIEBERM AN . in connection with the delivery of and payment for health care

benetsts, items, and services
, did knowingly and willtblly execute, and attem pt to execute, the

above-described scheme and al-titice to defraud a health care benet'it program affecting com merce,

as det-ined by Title 1 8, United States Code, Section 24(b), that is, the Insurance Plans, and to obtain
,

by means of matelially false and fkaudulent pretenses
, representations, and promises, m oney and

property owned by, and under the custody and control of
, said health care benet-it program s, in that

the defendants so identitsed below stlbmitted and caused the sublnission of false and fraudulent

claims seeking the identified dollar amounts
, repl-esenting that the services listed below were

medically necessary and actually provided:

Count Defendants Patient lnsurer Approx
. Approx. Provider Claim No. &Ch

arged Claim Service Nam e Description
Am ount Date

2 JONATIIAN E.F. BCBS $3,126 9/26/2017 Lab 1 11100000627791653
M ARKOVICH,

DANIEL Code 60482 (Drtlg
M ARK OVICH, test def 15

-21
CHRISTOPHER classes)
GARNTO and

JO SE SANTEIRO
3 JONATHAN N .D. Optum $3,100 1/22/2018 Laboratory 719939920701

M ARK OVICH, Pros LLC
DANIEL Code 60482 (Drug

M ARKOVICH , test def 15
-21CH R

ISTOPHER classes)
GARNTO ,

JO SE SANTEIRO
and DREW
LIEBERM AN

4 JONATHAN T.F. BCBS $4,200 8/25/2018 l-aboratory 14100000692438328
M ARKOVICH , Pros LLC
DANIEL Code 60483 (Drug

M ARKOVICH, test def22+ cl
asses)CHRISTOPHER

GARNTO,
JOSE SANTEIRO

and DREW
LIEBERM AN
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Count Defendants Patient lnsurer Approx. Approx. Provider Claim No. &
Charged Claim Service Nam e Description

Am ount Date
5 JONATHAN W .J. BCBS $4,326 7/7/2019 Compass 14100000755034309

M ARK OVICH, Detox
DANIEL Revenue Code 126

MARKOVICH, (detox) .
CHRISTOPHER

GARNTO ,
JOSE SANTEIRO

and DREW
LIEBERM AN

6 JONATHAN T.R. BCBS $4,326 7/26/2019 Compass 100000759760327
M ARKOVICH , Detox

DANIEL Revenue Code 126

MARKOVICH, (detox)
CHRISTO PHER

GARNTO,
JO SE SANTEIRO

and DREW
LIEBERM AN

7 JONATHAN N.S. BCBS $2,250 9/6/2019 Lab 4 14100000765194928
M ARK OVICH,
CHRISTOPHER Code 60482 (Drug
GARNTO and test def l 5-21

JOSE SANTEIRO classes)
8 JONATHAN A.N. BCBS $5,550 12/2/2019- W AR 14100000786406478

M ARK OVICH, 12/6/2019 Network,
CHRISTO PHER LLC Code H0015

GARNTO and (Alcohol and/or
JOSE SANTEIRO drug services)

9 JONATHAN R.C. BCBS $1,850 1/21/2020 W AR 14100000801561920
M ARKO VICH. Network,
CHRISTOPH ER LLC Code H0015
GARNTO and (Alcohol and/or

JOSE SANTEIRO drug services)

ln violation of Title 18, United States Code, Seetions 1347 and 2.
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COUNT 10
Conspiracy to Pay and Receive Kickbacks

(18 U.S.C. j 371)

Paragraphs 1 through 31, 34, 44-46, 48-49, 52-53 and 55 of the General Allegations

section of this lndictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth

herein.

From in or around Novem ber 20 1 8, and continuing through in or around October

2020, in Broward and M iam i-Dade Counties
, in the Southern District of Florida and elsewhere,

the defendants,

JONATH AN M ARK OVICH ,

DANIEL M ARK OVICH ,
CH RISTOPH ER GARNTO ,

M ARIO K IJSTIJRA, and
FRANK BOSCH, JR.,

further the objects of the conspiracy, and knowingly

com bine, conspire, contkderate, and agree, with each other and others known and urlknown to the

Grand Jury, to com mit offenses against the United States
, that is:

a. to knowingly and willfully, with respect to services covered by a health care

did willfully, that is, with the intent to

benetit program, that is the lnsurance Plans, in and aftkcting interstate and foreign comm erce,

solicit and receive any remuneration (including any kickback, bribe, and rebate) directly and

indirectly, overtly and covel-tly
, in cash and in kind, in retunl for referring a patient or patronage

to a recovery home, clinical treatluent facilityn and laboratory, in violation of Title 1 8- United

States Code, Section 220(a)(1);

b. to knowingly and willfully
, with respect to services covered by a health care

benetit program, that is the lnsurance Plans
, in and affkcting interstate and tbreign comm erce, pay

and offer any remuneration (including any kickback, bribe, and rebate), directly and indirectly,
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overtly and covertly, in cash and in kind, to induce a refeln-al of an individual to a recovery home
,

clinical treatment facility- and laboratory. in violation of Title

220(a)(2)(A)', and

l 8, United States Code, Sedion

to knowingly and willt-ully, with respect to selwices covered by a health care

benetst program , that is the lnsurance Plans, in and aftkcting interstate and foreign commerce, pay

and offer any remuneration (including any kickback, bribe, and rebate), directly and indirectly,

overtly and covertly, in cash and in kind, in exchange tbr an individual using the services of a

recovel'y hom e, clinieal treatm ent facility, and laboratory, in violation of Title 1 8
, United States

Code, Section 220(a)(2)(B).

PURPO SE O F TH E CON SPIRACY

lt was a purpose of the conspiracy for the defkndants and their co-conspirators to

unjustly enrieh themselves by, among other things: (a) offering and paying kiekbacks, bribes, and

rebates to induce the referral of beneticiaries ot-the lnsurance Plans to Compass Detox
, W AR, and

the Clinical Laboratories', (b) offering and paying kickbaeks, bribes, and rebates in exehange for a

benefieiary of the lnsurance Plans using the serviees of Compass Detox, W AR, and the Clinieal

Laboratories', @) solieiting and receiving kiekbaeks, bribes, and rebates in return for refen'ing a

patient and patronage to Compass Detox, WAR, and the Clinieal Laboratories', (d) eoncealing and

causing the concealment ot-kickbacks, bribes, and rebates'
, and (e) diverting kickback, bribes and

rebates for their personal use and benefit. the use and benetst of others
, and to further the

conspiracy.

M ANNER AND M EANS O F TH E CONSPIR ACY

The manner and m eans by which the defendants and their co-conspirators sought to

accolnplish the objects and purpose of the conspiracy included, among others, the following:
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To obtain and retain patients for Compass Detox and W AR whose insurance,

incltlding the Insurance Plans, could be billed for substanee abuse services
, JONATHAN

M ARK OVICH, DANIEL M ARKO VICH
, CHRISTOPH ER GARNTO , M ARIO

KUSTUITA, FRANK BO SCH , JR., Elan Bakhshi, and their co-conspirators offered and paid

prospective patients kickbacks and bribes in the form of: money
, gift cards, controlled substances

(including illegal drugs), other prescliption medications
, compound m edications, free interstate

flights, bus and train tickets. allowing one patient to -kpiggyback'; on another patient's insurance
,

and offering other ttscholarships'' in exchange for a patient referring other individuals with

insurance (including benesciaries of the Insurance Plans) for treatment.

CHRISTOPHER GARNTO and his co-conspirators further paid patient

recruiters, including M ARIO KUSTURA, FRANK BOSCH, JR., and Elan Bakhshi, kickbacks

and bribes to refer patients to Compass Detox and W AR
- and in return for individual patients to

use the services of Com pass Detox and W AR .

CHRISTOPHER GARNTO , through Laboratory Pros, further paid JONATH AN

M ARK OVICH , through Yeladim 18
, kickbacks and bribes to refer urine samples for Compass

Detox and W AR patiepts to Laboratory Pros. the Clinical Laboratory managed by GARNTO .

O VERT ACTS

ln furtherance ofthe conspiracy
, and to accomplish its objects and pumose. at least one of

the co-conspirators com m itted and caused to be com mitted
, in Broward and M iami-Dade Counties,

in the Southern District of Florida and elsewhere
, at least one of the following ovel't acts, among

others:

On or abotlt Novem ber l . 2018, CH RISTO PHER GARNTO signed and caused

to be signed check no. 1 073 in the approximate amount of $ 1 5
,859 fi-om Laboratory Pros account
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ending in 2645 with Bank ofAmerica payable to Yeladim 18
, as a kickback for refkrring Compass

Detox and WTAR patients' urine samples to Laboratory Pros.

On or about November 2. 2018, JONATHAN M ARKOVICH deposited and

caused to be deposited, in Yeladim 1 8's account ending in 1358 with Bank ofAmerica
, check no.

1073 in the approximate amount of $15,859 from Laboratory Pros.

On or about N ovember 15, 2018, CH RISTOPH ER GARNTO transferred and

caused to be transfel'red appl'oximately $2,000 from M ended Bridge's account ending in 3563 with

Bank of Am erica to FRANK BOSCH, JR.'s account ending in 9272 w ith W ells Fargo.

4. On or about M arch 9, 20l 9, FRANK BO SCH , JR., transtkrred approxim ately

$1 50 to A.N.. a Compass Detox patient, through W estern Union
, as a kickback for using the

services of Com pass Detox.

On or about M arch 13, 2019, DANIEL M ARK OVICH purchased and caused to

be purchased an Am erican Airlines tlight from Dallas-Fort W orth, Texas, to Fort Lauderdale,

Florida, for E.O., a form er Compass and W AR patient, for approximately $508 using Chase credit

eard ending in 3684 in the name of DANIEL M ARKOVICH , as a kickbaek for using the services

of Compass Detox.

On or about April 22, 2019. M ARIO KUSTURA transfen'ed approximately $1 00

to M .K., a Compass Detox patient, through W estern Union, as a kickbaek for using the services of

Compass Detox.

On or about June 6, 2019, FRANK BOSCH, JR., transferred approximately $125

to N.H., a Compass Detox patient, through W estern Union, as a kickback for using the services of

Compass Detox.
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On about June 20
, 2019, CHRISTOPHER GARNTO transferred

approximately $600 to Elan Bakhshi through CashApp
, as a kickback to induce the referral of

patients to use the services of Compass Detox
. W AR, and Laboratory Pros.

On or about July 8, 20l 9, CHR ISTOPH ER GA RNTO transtkrred approxiluately

$200 to J.D., a Compass Detox and W AR patient
, through CashApp, a wire transfer service, as a

kickback for using the services of Compass Detox
.

10. On or about August 20, 2019, DANIEL M ARKOVICH purchased and caused to

be purchased an American Airlines flight from Santa Ana
, California, to M iami, Florida, for J.M .,

a Compass Detox and W AR patient
, for approximately $288 using Chase credit card ending in

3684 in the name of DANIEL M A RK OVICH
, as a kickback for using the services of Compass

Detox.

or about November 1, 2019, CHRISTO PHER GARNTO transferred

approximately $ l ,000 to N.S., a Compass Detox and W AR patient, through Zelle transfer from

Chase account ending in 9530 held in the name Ot-GARNTO
, as a kickback for using the services

Ot-W AR and Laboratory Pros and in exchange for referring patients to Compass Detox
, W AR, and

Laboratory Pros.

On or about Decem ber 30. 2019, JO NATHAN M ARK OVICH purchased and

caused to be purchased a Southwest Airlines tlight from Nashville
, Tennessee. to Fort Lauderdale,

Florida, for R.C., a Compass Detox and W AR patient
, for approximately $442 using American

Express credit card ending in 1077 in the name of Second Chance Detox
, LLC, as a kickback for

using the services of Com pass Detox.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code. Sedion 37l .
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COUNTS 11-18
Paym ent and Offer of Kickbacks in Exchange for Use of Services

(18 U.S.C. j 220(a)(2)(B))

Paragraphs 1 through 31, 34, 44-46, 48-49, 52-53 and 55 ofthe General Allegations

section of this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by referenced as though f'tllly set forth

herein.

On or about the dates as to each count set tbrth below
, in Broward and M iami-Dade

Counties, in the Southern District ofFlorida
, and elsewhere, the defendants,

JONATHAN M A RKO VICH ,
DANIEL M ARKOVIC ,H

CH RISTOPHER GARNTO,
M ARIO K USTURA, and
FRANK BOSCH, JR.,

as identitied in each count below
, did knowingly and willfully pay and offer any rem uneration

,

including any kickback, bribe, and rebate, namely, the payments specitsed as to each count below
,

directly and indirectly, overtly and covertly, in cash and in kind, in exchange for an individual

using the services of recovery homes, clinical treatm ent facilities, and laboratories, that is,

Compass Detox. W AR, and the Clinical Laboratories, with respect to services covered by a health

eare benefit program, that is. the lnsuranee Plans. each in and affecting interstate and foreign

COITIIMCI-CC:
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Count Defendanttsl/ Approx. Approx. Patient/ Description of
Sender Paym ent Paym ent Individual Remuneration

Date A mount
11 FRANK BOSCH, 3/9/201 9 $150 A.N. W estelm Union control

JR. no. 4759190749
12 DANIEL 3/13/2019 $508 E.O. American Airline flight

M ARKOVICH on 3/13/2019 from DFW
to FLL purchased on
Chase card ending in
3684 in the nam e of
Daniel M arkovich

13 M ARIO 4/22/2019 $100 M .K. W estenz Union control
KUSTURA no. 4383815965

14 FRANK BOSCH, 6/6/2019 $125 N.H. W estern Union control
JR. no. 40397741 15

15 CHRISTOPHER 7/8/2019 $200 J.D. CashApp transfer
GARNTO

16 DANIEL 8/20/2019 $288 J.M . American Airlines tlight
M ARKO VICH, on 8/20/2019 tkom SNA
CH RISTOPH ER to M 1A purchased on
GARNTO and Chase card ending in

M ARIO 3684 in the name of
KUSTURA Daniel M arkovich

17 CHRISTOPHER l 1/1/2019 $1,000 N.S. Zelle transfer from Chase
G ARNTO account ending in 9530 in

name of Christopher .1
Garnto

18 JONATHAN 12/30/2019 $442 R.C. Southwest Airlines tlight
M ARKOVICH on 12/3 1/2019 from BNA

and to FLL purchased on
CHRISTOPHER Am Ex card ending in

GARNTO 1077 in the nam e of
Second Chance Detox,
LLC

ln violation of Title l 8, United States Code, Sedions 220(a)(2)(B) and 2.
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COUNTS 19-21
Paym ent and Offer of Kickbacks to lnduce Referrals

(18 U.S.C. j 220(a)(2)(A))

1 throtlgh 3 1, 34, 45-46, 49, 53 and 55 of the General Allegations

section of this lndictm ent are re-alleged and incorporated by ret-erenced as though fully set for'th

herein.

Paragraphs

On or about the dates as to each count set forth below
, in Broward and M iami-Dade

Counties, in the Southern District of Florida
, and elsewhere, the defendant,

CH RISTOPHER GARNTO ,

did knowingly and willfully pay and oftkr any remuneration
, including any kickback, bribe, and

rebate, nam ely, the payments specitied as to each count below
, directly and indirectly, ovel-tly and

covertly, in cash and in kind, to induce a referral of an individual to recovery homes
, clinical

treatluent facilities, and laboratories, that is, Compass Detox, W AR, and the Clinical Laboratories,

with respect to services covered by a health care benetst program
, that is, the Insurance Plans, each

in and affecting interstate and foreign com merce:

Count Approx. Approx. Recipient Description of Transaction
Paym ent Paym ent
Date Am ount

19 l 1/1/2018 $15,859 JONATHAN Check no. 1073 from Laboratory Pros
MARKOVICH Bank ofAmerica account ending in

2645 to Yeladim l 8's Bank of
Am erica account ending in 1358

20 1 1/l 5/2018 $2,000 FRANK Transfer from M ended Bridge's Bank
BOSCH, JR. of Am eriea aeeount ending in 3563 to

Frank Bosch, Jr.'s W ells Fargo
account ending in 9272

21 6/20/2019 $600 Elan Bakhshi CashApp transfer

ln violation of Title 1 8, United States Code, Sections 220(a)(2)(A) and 2.
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COUNTS 22-23
Soliciting and Receiving K ickbacks

(18 U.S.C. j 220(a)(1))

Paragraphs 1 through 3 1, 34, 45-46- 49, 53 and 55 of the General Allegations

section of this lndictm ent are re-alleged and incorporated by ret-erenced as though fully set forth

ja 'Cl-eln.

On or about the dates as to eacln count set forth below, in Broward and M iam i-Dade

Counties, in the Southern Distrid of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants,

JONATH AN M ARKO VICH and
FRANK BO SCH, JR.,

willfully solicit and reeeive any

l'emuneration, including any kiekbaek, bribe. and rebate, namely, the payments set fol'th as to each

count below, directly and indirectly, overtly and covertly, in cash and in kind, in return for referring

a patient and patronage to a reeovery home- clinical treatm ent facility, and laboratory, that is,

Compass Detox, W AR, and the Clinical Laboratories- with respect to services covered by a health

care benefit program , that is, the lnsurance Plans, each in and at-fecting interstate and foreign

com m erce:

Count Defendant / Payee Payor Approx. Approx. Description of
Receipt Paym ent Transaction
Date Amount

22 JONATHAN CHRISTOPHER l 1/2/2018 $15,859 Check no. 1073
M ARK OVICH GARNTO from Laboratory

Pros Bank of
Am erica account
ending in 2645 to
Yeladim 18's
Bank of Am erica
account ending in
1 358
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Count Defendant / Payee Payor Approx. Approx. Description of
Receipt Paym ent Transaction
Date Am ount

23 FRANK BOSCH, CHRISTOPHER 1 1/15/2018 $2,000 Transfer from
JR. GARNTO M ended Bridge's

Bank of America
account ending in
3563 to Frank
Bosch, Jr.'s W ells
Fargo account
ending in 9272

ln violation of Title l 8, United States Code, Sections 220(a)(1) and 2.

COUNT 24
Conspiracy to Com m it M oney Laundering

(18 U.S.C. j 1956(h))

Paragraphs 22 through 23 and 32 through 47 of the General Allegations Sedion of

this Indidment are realleged and ilworporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.

From in or around April 2017, and continuing through in or around October 2020,

in Broward and M iami-llade Counties, in the Southern District of Florida
, and elsewhere, the

defendants,

JONATHAN M ARKO VICH and
RICHARD W ASERSTEIN,

did willfully, that is, with the intent to further the objects of the conspiracy, and knowingly,

combine, conspire, confederate and agree with each other and with others known and unknown to

the Grand Jury, to commit offenses under Title 1 8, United States Code, Sections 1956 and 1957
,

to Nvi t -

to knowingly conduct a tsnancial transaction affeeting interstate and foreign

com merce, which financial transaction involved the proceeds of specified unlawful activity,

knowing that the property involved in the financial transaction represented the proceeds of some

fonn of unlawful activity, and knowing that the transaetion was designed in whole and in part to
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conceal and disguise the nature, the location, the sotlrce, the ownership, and the control of the

proceeds of specitied unlawful activity, in violation of Title l 8, United States Code, Section

1956(a)(l )(B)(i)', and

to knowingly engage in a monetary transaction by, through, and to a t'inancial

institution affecting interstate and foreign comm erce, in erim inally derived property of a value

greater than $ l 0,000, such propel-ty being derived from specitied unlawful activity, knowing that

the property involved in the monetary transaction was derived from some tbrm of unlawful

activity, in violation of-l-itle 18, United States Code, Section 1957(a).

lt is further alleged that the speeitied unlawful activity is wire fraud, in violation of Title

18, United States Code, Section 1343, health care fraud, in violation of Title l 8, United States

Code, Section 1347, and conspiracy to commit health care and wire fraud, in violation of-l-itle l 8,

United States Code, Section 1349.

CO UNTS 25-26
M oney Laundering

(18 U.S.C. j 1956(a)(1)(B)(i))

On or about the dates as to each count set forth below, in Broward and M iami-Dade

Counties, in the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the detkndants,

JONATHAN M ARK OVICH and
RICH ARD W ASERSTEIN,

did knowingly conduct and attem pt to conduct a financial transaction affecting interstate and

foreign comm erce, which financial transaction involved the proceeds of specified unlawful

activity, knowing that the propel'ty involved in tlne t'inancial transaction represented the proceeds

of some form of unlawtkll activity, and knowing that such transaction was designed, in whole and
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in pal't, to conceal and disguise the nature, location, sotlrce, ownership, and eontrol of the proeeeds

of specitied unlawful activity, as more specitically described below:

Count Approxim ate Description of Financial Transaction
Date

25 12/26/2018 $1,000,000 transfer via check no. 5755 from accotlnt number
ending in 3275 in the name of Second Chance Detox LLC d/b/a
Compass Detox at BB& T to money m arket account number
ending in 9575 in the name of Ness Group Foundation, lnc. with
M arquis Bank; the mem o line of the check reads, k'Charitable
Contribution''

26 6/26/2019 $1 ,000,000 wire transtkr from account number ending in 3275 in
the name of Second Chance Detox LLC d/b/a Compass Detox at
BB&T to account num ber ending in 8769 in the nam e ofNess
Group Foundation at lberia Bank; the detail for this wire transfer
reads ûtcontribution''>

It is further alleged that the specitied unlawt'ul aetivity is wire fl'aud, in violation of Title

18, United States Code, Sedion 1343, health eare fraud- in violation of Title 18, United States

Code, Section l 347, and conspiracy to comm it health care and wire fraud, in violation of-fitle l 8,

United States Code, Section l 349.

In violation of Title l 8, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(1)(B)(i) and 2.

COUNTS 27-33
M oney Laundering

(18 U.S.C. j 1957(a))

On or about the dates as to eaeh eount set fol'th below, in Broward and M iami-Dade

Counties, in the Southern Distrid of F lorida, and elsewhere, the defendants,

JO NATHAN M ARKOVICH and
RICH ARD W ASERSTEIN,

as described below, did knowingly engage and attempt to engage in a monetary transaetion by
,

through, and to a financial institution affecting interstate and foreign comm erce in criminally

derived property of a value greater than $1 0,000, and such property having been derived from

35
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specified unlawful activity- knowing that the property involved in the monetary transaction was

derived from som e form ofunlawtkl activity, as set forth below:

Count Approx. Defendantts) Description of M onetary Transaction
Date of

Transaction
27 12/12/2018 JONATH AN Approx. $480,000 transfer via check no. 5726

M ARK OVICH ; from account number ending in 3275 in the
RICH ARD nam e of Second Chance Detox d/b/a Compass

W ASERSTEIN Detox at BB& T to account num ber ending in
3551 in the nam e of W aterstone Capital
M anagem ent, LLC at Bank of America

28 12/12/2018 JONATHAN Approx. $480,000 transfer via check no. 5727
M ARKOVICH from account num ber ending in 3275 in the

name of Second Chanee Detox d/b/a Com pass
Detox at BB&T to account number ending in
8632 in the name of Asakim l 8, LLC at Bank of
Am erica

29 12/17/2018 RICHARD Approx. $200,000 transfer via check no. 1 107
W ASERSTEIN from account number ending in 3551 in the nam e

of W aterstone Capital M anagem ent LLC at Bank
of America to account num ber ending in 91 15 in

' the name oflosh Developm ent, LLC at Regions
Bank

30 12/3 1/201 8 JO NATHAN Approx. $200,000 transfer by check no. 5776
M ARKO VICH; from account num ber ending in 3275 in the nam e
RICHARD of Second Chance Detox d/b/a Compass Detox

W ASERSTEIN at BB&T to account number ending in 9200 in
the nam e of W aterstone Healthcare
M anagem ent, LLC at Bank of America

31 12/31/2018 JONATHAN Approx. $500,000 transfer via check no. 5779
M ARKOVICH ; fkom account number ending in 3275 in the nam e
RICHARD of Second Chance Detox d/b/a Com pass Detox

W ASERSTEIN to account num ber ending in 9122 in the nam e of
Right Direction Recovery, LLC at Bank of
America

32 2/28/2019 JONATHAN Approx. $638,259 transfer via check no. l 002
M ARKO VICH ; fiom account number ending in 9122 in the nam e
RICHARD of Right Direction Recovery, LLC at Bank of

W ASERSTEIN America to account ending in 2369 in the nam e
of Closings.com at Regions Bank
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Count Approx. Defendantts) Description of M onetary Transaction
Date of

Transaction
33 8/28/2019 JONATHAN Approx. $500,000 transfer via check no. 999

M ARKOVICH from account number ending in 8632 in the name
of A sakim 18 LLC at Bank of America to
account number 9682 in the name of Jonathan
M arkovich POD Daniel M arkovich at lberia
Balzk.

lt is further alleged that the specitied unlawful activity is wire fraud
, in violation of Title

l 8, United States Code, Section 1343, health care fraud. in violation of Title l 8, United States

Code, Section l 347, and conspiracy to comm it health care and wire fraud
, in violation of Title l 8,

United States Code, Section 1349.

ln violation of Title l 8. United States Code
, Sections l 957(a) and 2.

CO UNTS 34-35
Bank Fraud

(18 U.S.C. j 134442))

Paragraphs 22, 23, 46, and 56 through 62 ofthe General A llegations Section of this

lndictment are realleged and incorporated by retkrence as if fully set tbrth herein
.

2. From in or around April 2020 through in or around Oetober 2020, in M iami-Dade

County, in the Southel'n District of Florida, and elsewhere, the detkndant,

JONATH AN M ARKOVICH ,

knowingly, and with intent to defraud, executed and attem pted to exeeute a seheme and artifiee to

obtain m oneys, funds, credits, assets, securities, and other propel'ty owned by, and under the

custody and control of, a tinancial instittltion, that is. Lender 1 , by m eans of m aterially false and

fraudulent pretenses, l'epresentations, and prom ises- and by omission of material facts.
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PURPO SE O F THE SCHEM E AND ARTIFICE

lt was a purpose of the scheme and artifice for the defendant and his accomplices

to unlawfully enrich themselves by: (a) submitting false and fraudulent PPP loan applications to

tinancial institutions falsely l-epresenting that the applicant entities were not engaged in violations

offederal, state, and loeal law; and (b) concealing and eausing the concealment of these false and

t-raudulent applications.

TH E SCH EM E AND ARTIFICE

The allegations contained in the M anner and M eans of the Conspiraey seetions of

Counts l , l0, and 24 are re-alleged and ilworporated by ref-erence as though fully set forth herein

as a description of som e of the illegal activities in which JONATHAN M ARKOVICH was

engaged in, including in or around April 2020, when JONATHAN M ARK OVICH applied for

PPP loans for Compass Detox and W AR.

On or about April 24, 2020, JONATHAN M ARK OVICH subm itted, and caused

the submission of. a PPP applieation in the name of Compass Detox seeking a PPP loan in the

amount of approximately $5 l l ,807 (the ''Compass Detox PPP Applieation''). ln the Compass

Detox PPP application, JONATHAN M ARKOVICH represented himself to be an owner of

Compass Detox.

The Compass Detox PPP Application submitted by JON ATH AN M ARKOVICH ,

included the false representation that ttgtlhe Applicant is not engaged in an activity that is illegal

under federal, state or loeal law .''

Based on this and other infonration provided to Lender 1 in the Compass Detox

PPP Application, Lender 1 approved and funded the PPP loan. On or about M ay 6, 2020,

38
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approximately $51 l ,807 was transferred from Lender 1 to a bank account held in the name of

Compass Detox at Lender l .

On or about April 24, 2020, JO NATH AN M ARKO VICH subm itted, and caused

the subm ission of, a PPP application in the nam e of W AR seeking a PPP loan in the approxim ate

amount of $46,455 (the 'ZWAR PPP Application''). ln the War PPP Application, JONATHAN

M ARK OV ICH represented himselfto be an owner of W AR
.

9. The W AR PPP Application submitted by JONATHAN M ARKOVICH ineluded

the false representation that -tgtlhe Applicant is not engaged in an activity that is illegal under

federal, state or loeal law.''

Based on this and other information provided to Lender l in the W AR PPP

Applieation, Lender l approved and funded the PPP loan. On or about M ay 7, 2020. approxim ately

$46,455 was transtkrred from Lender 1 to a bank account held in the name of W AR at Lender 1 
.

1 0 .

ACTS IN EXECUTION O R ATTEM PTED EXECUTION O F TH E
NCHE-M E ANp ARTJFIC:

On or about April 24, 2020, in M iami-Dade County, in the Southern District of

Florida, and elsewhere, the defendant, JONATHAN M ARK OVICH , knowingly executed and

attempted to execute the above-described schem e to defraud by com mitting and causing others to

comm it the following acts, each of which constituted an execution of the fraudulent scheme:

Count Approx.
Date of Description

A lication

34 4/24/2020 Subm ission ofthe Compass Detox PPP Application.

35 4/24/2020 Submission of the W AR PPP Application.

All in violation of Title l 8. United States Code. Sections l 344(2) and 2.
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FORFEITIJRE ALLEGATIONS
(18 U.S.C. j 981(a)(1)(C))

(18 U.S.C. j 982(a)(1) and (a)(7))

The allegations of this lndictm ent are hereby re-alleged and by this reference fully

incorporated herein tbr the purpose of alleging t-orfeiture to the United States of certain property

in which any of the defendants, JONATHAN M ARK OVICH , RICHARD W ASERSTEIN ,

DANIEL M ARK OVICH , CHRISTO PHER GARNTO, JOSE SANTEIRO , DREW

LIEBERM AN, M ARIO K USTURA, and FRANK BO SCH , JR.
, have an interest.

Upon a conviction of a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Scetions l 343,

1 347, l 349, or 37 1 as alleged in this lndietmentm defendants so eonvicted shall forfeit to the United

States any property, real or personals that constitutes or is derived
, diredly or indireetly, from gross

proceeds traceable to the columission of the offense- pursuant to Title 18, United States Code,

Sedion 9S2(a)(7).

Upon conviction a violation of United States Code, Sections

l 956(a)(l )(B)(i), l 956(h), or l 957(a), as alleged in this lndictment, the det-endants so eonvicted

shall fortkit to the United States any propel-ty- real or personal
, involved in sueh offense, and any

propel'ty traceable to such property, pursuant to Title l 8, United States Code, Seetion 982(a)( 1).

Upon eonvietion of a violation of Title 1 8, United States Code, Section 1344, as

alleged in this Indictm ent, the detkndant so convicted shall tbrtkit to the United States any property

eonstituting or derived from. proceeds obtained directly or indirectly, as the result of the violation,

The property subjeet to tbrfeiture as a result of the alleged oftknses includes, but is

not lim ited to, the tbllowing'.
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All tknds formerly on deposit in account numbers

0000246489483 at Truist Bank'-

0000242203275 and

All funds tbrmerly deposit in account numbel's 898082983551
,

229055738632,229055319200,898096489122,and 003765605611at Bank

of America;

All fknds form erly on deposit in aecount number 1 l 049575 at M arquis

Bank; and

A1l funds formerly on deposit in account number 4200100297 at lberia

Bank.

C.

d.

lf any ofthe property subject to forfeiture, as a result of any act or omission of the

defendants:

cannot be loeated upon the exercise of due diligence;

has been transferred or sold to. or deposited with, a third pm-ty',

has been plaeed beyond the jurisdietion of the eourt',

has been substantially dim inished in value', or

has been com mingled with other property which cannot be divided w'ithout

difficulty,

the United States shall be entitled to forfeiture of substitute property under the provisions of Title

21 , United States Code, Section 853(p).

41
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All pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 98 1(a)(1)(C), 982(a)(l), 982(a)(2)(A),

982(a)(7), Title 21, United States Code, Section 853, and Title 28, United Stats Code, Section

246l(c).

A TRUE BILL

AR A FAJA O ORSHAN
Q TED STA S ATTORNEY

l
SO THERN Dl TRICT OF FLORIDA

DANIEL KAHN
ACTING CHIEF
CRIM INAL DIVISION, FRAUD SECTION
U.S. DEPARTM ENT OF JUSTICE

ALLAN M EDINA
DEPUTY CHIEF
CRIM INAL DIVISION, FRAUD SECTION

DEPARTM ENT OF JUSTICE

#

JA ES V. HAYES
SENIOR LITIGATION COUN SEL
JAM IE DE BOER
TRIAL ATTORNEY
CRIM IX AL Dlvlslox, FRAUD sEcrrloN
U.s. DEPARTM ENT OF JUSTICE
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

UNITED STATES OF AM ERICA

CERTIFICATE OF TRIAL ATTORNEY.

Superseding Case lnformation:

JONATHAN M ARKOVICH, et aI.

Court Division: (select one)
M iami Key W est

.' FTL W PB FTP

New defendantts) Yes
Number of new defendants
Total number of counts

I have careftllly considered the allegations of the indictment, the ntlmber of defendants, the number of
probable witnesses and the legal complexities of the lndictment/lnformation attached hereto.

l am aware that the information stlpplied on this statement will be relied upon by the Jtldges of this
Cotlrt in setting their calendars and schedtlling criminal trials tlnder the mandate of the Speedy Trial
Act, Title 28 U.S.C. Section 3 161 .

Interpreter: (Yes or No) No
List lanjtlage and/or dialect
This case will take 20 days for the parties to try.

Please check appropriate category and type of offense listed below:

(Check only one)

0 to 5 days
6 to l 0 days
l 1 to 20 days
2 1 to 60 days
6 1 days and over

I
l 1
l l l
IV
V

/

Petty
M inor
M isdem.
Felony /

(Yes or No)6. Has this case previotlsly been Gled in this District Court?
lf yes: Judge Case No.
tAt4acla copy of dispositive order)

No) YeSHas a complaint been filed in this matter? (Yes or
If yes: Magistrate Case No. 20-6469-M .1-111..+ 7-
Related miscellaneous numbers:
Defendantts) in federal custody as of
Defendantts) in state ctlstody as of
Rule 20 from the District of

Is this a potential death penalty case? (Yes or No)

Does this case originate from a matter pending in the Central Region of the U.S. Attorney's Oftsce

prior to August 9, 20 1 3 (Mag. Judge Alicia 0. Valle)? Yes No /

Does this case originate from a matter pending in the Northern Region of the U.S. Attorney's Office
prior to August 8, 20 l 4 (Mag. Judge Shaniek Maynard)? Yes No ?'

Does this case originate from a matter pending in the Central Region of the U.S. Attorney's Office
prior to October 3, 20 l 9 (Mag. Judge Jared Strauss)? Yes No z

JAM ES V HA S
ASSISTAN T U ITED STATES ATTORNEY

lpenalty Sheetts) attached
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendantfs Nam e: JONATHAN M ARKOVICH.

Count #: 1

Conspiracy t()- Cop mit Hea1th Care Fraud and W ire Fraud

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349

+ Max. Penalty: Twenty (20) years' imprisonment

Counts #: 2-9

Title 18, United States Code. Section 1347

* Max. Penalty: Ten (10) years' imprisonment as to each count

Count #: 10

Conspiracy to Pay and Receive Kickbacks

Title 18, United States Code, Section 37 1

* Max. Penalty: Five (5) years' imprisonment

Count #: 18

Paym ent and Offer Kickbacks in Exchance for Use of Services

Title 18. United States Code, Section 220(a)(2)(B)

* M ax. Penalty: Ten (10) years' imprisonment

iltefers only to possible term of incarceration, does not include possible f'ines, restitution,
special assessm ents, parole term s, or forfeitures that m ay be applicable.
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Count #: 22

Solicitina and Receivinz Kickbacks

Title 18a United States Code, Section 220(a)(1)

* Max. Penalty: Ten (10) years' imprisonment

Count #: 24

Conspiracy to Comm it M oney Launderinc

Title 18, United States Codes Section 1956(h)

* Max. Penalty: Twenty (20) years' imprisonment

Counts #: 25-26

Title 18s United States Codes Section l956(a)(1)(B)(i)

* M ax. Penalty: Twenty (20) years' imprisomzlent as to each count

Counts #: 27-28, 30-33

M oney Laundering

Title 18s United States Code, Section 1956(a)(1)(B)(i)

* Max. Penalty: Ten (10) years' imprisonment as to each count

Counts #: 34-35

Title 18, United States Codes Section 1344(2)

* Max. Penalty: Thil'ty (30) years' imprisonment as to each count

*ltefers only to possible term of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution,
special assessments, parole term s, or forfeittlres that m ay be applicable.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTH ERN DISTRICT OF FLO RIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Nam e: RICHARD W ASERSTEIN

Count #: 24

Conspiracy to Comm it M oney Laundering

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(h)

* Max. Penalty: Twenty (20) years' imprisonment

Counts #: 25-26

M oney Launderin:

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(a)(1)(B)(i)

* Max. Penalty: Twenty (20) years' imprisonment as to each count

Counts #: 27, 29-32

* Max. Penalty: Ten (10) years' imprisonment as to each count

*ltefers only to possible term of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution,
special assesslnents, parole terms, or forfeitures that m ay be applicable.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Count #: 1

Conspiracy to com mit Health Care Fraud and W ire Fraud

Title 18, United States Code- Section 1349

* Max. Penalty: Twenty (20) years' imprisonment

Counts #: 2-6

Title 18e United States Code, Section 1347

* M ax. Penalty: Ten (10) years' imprisonment as to each count

Count #: 10

Conspiracy to Pay and Receive Kickbacks

* Max. Penalty: Five (5) years' imprisonment

Counts #: 12 and 16

Payment and Offer Kickbacks in Exchange for Use of Services

Title 18, United States Code, Section 220(a)(2)(B)

* Max. Penalty: Ten 1 0) years' imprisonment as to each count

Wltefers only to possible term of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution,
special assessm ents, parole term s, or forfeitures that m ay be applicable.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Name: CHRISTOPHER GARNTO

Case No :

Count #: 1

Conspiracy to cornmit Health Care Fraud and W ire Fzaud

* M ax. Penalty: Twenty (20) years' imprisonment

Counts #: 2-9

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1347

* Max. Penalty: Ten (10) years' imprisonment as to each cotmt

Count #: 10

Conspiracy to Pay and Receive Kickbacks

Title 18, United States Code, Section 371

% Max. Penalty: Five (5) years' imprisonment

Counts #: 15-18

Payment azld Offer Kickbacks in Exchanae for Use of Services

* M ax. Penalty: Ten 10) years' imprisonment as to each count

Srltefers only to possible term of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution,
special assessm ents, parole terms, or forfeitures that m ay be applicable.
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Counts #: 1 9-2 1

* M ax. Penalty: Ten (10) years' imprisonment as to each count

*lkefers only to possible term of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution,
special assessm ents, parole terms, or forfeitures that m ay be applicable.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTH ERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

I'ENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Nam e: JOSE SANTEIRO

Count # : 1

Conspiracv to Comm it Health Care Fraud and W ire Fraud

* Max. Penalty: Twenty (20) years' imprisonment

Counts #: 2-9

Hea1th Care Fraud

Title 18, United States Code- Section 1347

* M ax. Penalty: Ten (10) years' imprisonment as to each count

*ltefers only to possible term of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution,
special assessments, parole term s, or forfeitures that m ay be applicable.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SO UTH ERN DISTRICT O F F1uORI1)A

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Nam e: DREW  LIEBERM AN

Count #: 1

Conspiracy to Com mit Health Care Fraud and W ire Fraud

* Max. Penalty: Twenty (20) years' imprisonment

Counts #: 3-6

Title 18, United States Code, Section l 347

* Max. Penalty: Ten (10) years' imprisonment as to each count

*ltefers only to possible term of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution,
special assessm ents, parole term s, or forfeitures that m ay be applicable.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTH ERN DISTRICT OF FLO RIDA

PENAL-I'Y SIIEET

Defendant's Nam e: M ARIO KUSTRA

Case No :

Count #: 1 0

Conspiracy to Pay and Receive Kickbacks

* Max. Penalty: Five (5) years' imprisonment

Counts #: 13 and 1 6

Payment and Offer Kickbacks in Exchange for Use of Services

Title 18, United States Code, Section 220(a)(2)(B)

* Max. Penalty: Ten (10) years' imprisonment as to each count

*Refers only to possible term of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution,
special assessm ents, parole term s, or forfeitures that m ay be applicable.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT CO URT
SO UTH ERN DISTRICT OF FLO RIDA

PENALTY Sl lEE'l'

Defendant's Nam e: FRAN K BOSCH , JR.

Count #: 1 0

Title l 8, United States Code- Section 37l

1 Max. Penalty: Five (5) years' imprisonment

Counts #: 1 1 and 14

Paym ent and Offer Kickbacks in Exchange for Use of Services

Title l 8, United States Code, Section 220(a)(2)(B)

* Max. Penalty: Ten (10) years' imprisonment as to each count

Count #: 23

Soliciting and Receivin: Kickbacks

Title l 8, United States Code, Section 220(a)(1)

* Max. Penalty: Ten (10) years' imprisonment

WRefers only to possible term of incarceration
, does not include possible fines, restitution,

special assessm ents, parole term s, or forfeitures that m ay be applicable
.
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